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contract laws.Plaintiffs seek to represent others who are similarly situated, and to obtain
damages, equitable reljefttorneyg’ fees, and costs.

Il JURISDICTION AND VEN UE

4. The Court has jusdiction over this action pursuant to the Truth in Lending Act,
15 U.S.C. 8§ 1640(e); the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C.
8§ 1964(c); and 28 U.S.C. 88 1331 and 1337.

5. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction of claims arising under state law under
28 U.S.C. 8 1367.

6. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of

the events and omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this District.

[l PARTIES
7. Plaintiff Ronald Eganaesidesn the Greater New Orleamdetropolitan Area
8. Plaintiff Samantha Egana residaghe GreateNew OrleandMetropolitan Area.
0. Plaintiff Tiffany Brown residesn the Greater New Orleadetropolitan Area

10. DefendantBlair's Bail Bonds, Inc.(“Blair's”) is a domestic corporation duly
licensed under the laws of the state of Louisiana with its principal place of business at 2767
Tulane Avenue, New Orleans, LA 70119.

11. Defendant New Orleans Bail Bonds, L.L.CNew Orleans Bail Bonsgl) is a
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with a principal place of business at 11101 Roosevelt Blvd. N., St. Petersburg, FL 33716.

14. DefendantBankers Underwriters, Inds a domestic corporation duly licensed
under the laws of Louisiana with its principal place of business at 11101 Roosevelt Blvd. N., St.
Petersburg, FL 33716, and its principal business establishment in Louisiana at 501 Louisiana
Ave., Baton Rouge, LA 70802.

15. DefendantA2i, L.L.C. is a domestic company duly licensed under the laws of
Louisiana and domiciled at 315 Austin St., Bogalusa, LA 70427.

16. Defendant Alternative to Incarceration, Inc. is a domestic corporation duly
licensed under the laws of Lowasia with its principal place of business at 315 Austin St.,
Bogalusa, LA 70427.

17. Defendant Alternative to Incarceration NOLA, Inc. is a domestic corporation duly
licensed under the laws of Louisiana with its principal place of business at 2741 Tulane,Avenue
New Orleans, LA 70114t is currently inactive by action of the Secretary of Stiselast filing
date with the Secretary of State was May 6, 2015.

18. Defendants Bankers Insurance Company, Inc., Bankers Surety Services, Inc., and
Bankers Underwritersnt., are referred to collectively in this Complaint as “Bankers.”

19. Defendants Blair's Bail Bonds, Inc., New Orleans Bail Bonds, L.L.C., and
Bankers are referred to collectively in this Complaint as “Bonding Defendants.”

20. DefendantsA2i, L.L.C., Alternative ¢ Incarceration, Inc., and Alternative to
Incarceration NOLA, Inc. are referred to collectively as “A2i

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Background



21. Inthe majority of misdemeanor and felony cases in the Greater New Orleans area,
courts set monetary conditions of btiht must be satisfied to secure a person’s release from
jail !

22.  In cases whera monetary condition of bail is séhosewho cannoafford to post
the full amount must purchase a bail bond from a licensed agent to secure their Talessare
surety bond, offered by local bail agents and backed by an insurance corporation asHueety.
surety agreeso be indebted to the State in the amount of the bonldeitiefendant fails to
appeay thoughState lawalsoallows the bail agents to dischargésthbligation bybringing the

defendant before the court within a certain amount of time.



25. The law inposes these premium rdtmits on the surety companyhe surety
obtains the premium or a percentage of the premium from its agent, the bail bond company.

26.  When individuals seeking release are unable to pay the full cost of the bail fees up
front, somebail agents and sureties will extend the bond immediately with a down payment,
while extending credit for the remainder of the bail fees owed to be paid over time.

27. A recent study focused on Orleans Parish provides some information about
money bail and thprevalence of bail bond3here, median bail for those facing felony charges
is $10,000. Over the year studied, 97% of those facing felony charges who were able to secure
their release pretrial did so by buying a commercial bail 5dnctotal, tresecommercial bail
bondsallowed bail agents and sureties to collect $6.4 milli@ihthis amount, a portion went to

government entities, but the vast majoritsnore than $4.7 millior~was kept by commercial
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and, for the first time, said Mr. Egana would be charged $10 per day for .itMuséompass

said that Mr. Egana could have the ankle monitor removed after he had paid $3000. Mr. Egana
was not provided paperwork regarding the ankle monitor at this tihree.akle monitor was
provided by Defendant A2i

The Contract Documents

52.

10
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REFUND.” In smaller letters below, it also provided that “any money paid on behalf of this
defendant shall be applied to any and all outstanding or previous balances owed on this bond or
any previous bonds posted for this deferfdfl and purported to “waivall rights to any refund

that maybdsic] due until all outstanding balances are paid on behalf of this defendant.”

57. The Payment Arrangements agreemésted the remaining balance owed, for
which Bonding Defendants extendededit. It required Plaintiffs to “acknowledge that the
balance due on this bomieds to be paid” and that “the paymentdhos balance dusvill be
made in the following manner: $300 payable . .-wbekly, until paid in full, with the next
paymentdueon __ (Emphasis addedNo date was entered in the blank space.

58. Neither the Payment Arrangements agreementany other document disclakse
any of the following clearly or conspicuously in writing, segregated from everything else and in
a form that tle Plaintiffs could keep: the identity of the creditor, any finance chdrgegmount
financed, a separate itemization of the amount financed, the payment schedule, and a statement
that the consumer should refer to the appropriate contract document for information about
nonpayment, default, the right to accelerate the maturity of the obligation, and prepayment
rebates and penalties.

59. Plaintiffs were not given any copies of the Contract Documents at the time of
signing. They obtained a copy from Mr. Compas April 2017 .Before Mr. Compass gave them
a copy, they saw Mr. Compass editing parts of the document.

60. A copy of the “Payment Arrangements” agreement, as it was presented by

Defendant Blair's when Plaintiffs were able to obtain a copy in April 2017, appears below:

11
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61. Blair's has also represented to Plaintiffs that Mr. Egana had previously entered
into three additional bonding agreements with Bonding Defendants, in October 2010, May 2013,
and July 2016Mr. Compass represented to Mr. Egana that the acinttocuments from each

bond were substantially similar. He stated that Mr. Egana owed $3800 on those bonds.

12



Actions by Defendants to Collect Money

62. Mr. Egana was unable to make payments on the bail bond fee because his entire
income was spent supporting his family and paying for costs associated with his legal cases.

63. On September 27, 2016, Mr. Egana was doing contracting work at a private
residencedr his employer when a bounty hunter employed by Blair's named Alroy Allen came
onto the front porch armed with a gun while a second armed bounty hunter circled around to the
back of the house. They put Mr. Egana in handcuffs and arrested him. Howetead iof
surrendering Mr. Egana to the jail or court, Mr. Allen took Mr. Egana to the Blair's office where
he was kept in handcuffs. Mr. Allen then tditr. Eganato call his mother and told her on
speakerphone that if she did not bring $800 to the Blair’s office, her son would go $eyaital

hours later Ms. Egana arrived at Blair's with $800. Mr. Compass then demanded an additional

13
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73.  While he was detainedt Blair's, Mr. Compass told Mr. Egana that he would
have to wear the ankle monitor again. Mr. Egana pointed out that he, Ms. Egana, and Ms. Brown
had already paid over $3000, which was the amount required to have the ankle monitor removed.
Mr. Compass replied that the insurance company had changed its mind and would require the
ankle monitor until an outstanding bench warrant froourt date Mr. Egana had missed in
September in his underlying case was lifted.

74. Mr. Compass required Mr. Egana to sign a contract bearing the heading
“Alternative To Incarceration.” The contract provided for a $10 per day “monitoring cost” and a
$75 “aditional hook up” fee for participation in the “Alternative To Incarceration Electronic
Monitoring Program.”

75. Neither Ms. Egana nor Ms. Brown signed this contract or were told of its
existence, even though Ms. Egana’s payments had already been applied to the “monitoring
costs” that it provided.

76.  Mr. Allen reinstalledthe ankle monitor on Mr. Egana. Mr. Allen told Mr. Egana
he had to pay an “installation fee” of $100 and an additional $500 in two days or risk being
arrested again.

77. Around the same time, MiEgana also received calls stating that he had an
overdue balance of $357 for use of the ankle monitor. Plaintiffs made some payments directly to
A2i.

78.  After Mr. Egana obtained counsel and had the bench warrant from his underlying
case removed, he asked Blair's to remove the ankle monitor. Mr. Compass said he had to consult

with the insurance company first.

15



79. The next day, Mr. Egana returned to Blair’s office and Mr. Compass told him the

insurance company would not allow the ankle monitor to be removed. The daily charges for the

16
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Blair's office to force more payments from Ms. Egana and Ms. Brown. When they finally
surrendered Mr. Egana on May 23, 2017, he had obtained a lawyer and appeared in court

85. Because of the money she gave to theeBaants, Ms. Brown missed rent and car
payments. Ms. Eganavho is disabled and on a fixed inconspent her and her partner’s
savings, borrowed money from friends, and was unable to pay household bills. She is still paying
back the money she borrowed.

86.  After surrendering Mr. Egana, Blair’s did not return any of the money that he, Ms.
Egana, or Ms. Brown had paid, even though they had paid Blair's at least $6,000—well over the
$3275 bail bond fee.

V. CLASS ALLEGATIONS

87. Plaintiffs seek to certify classes for damages and equitable relief as follows:

88. Plaintiffs Ms. Egana, Ms. Brown, and Mr. Egana seek to certifyass for
damages pursuant to Fed. Rv.(?. 23(a) and (b)(3)The class is defined as: All individuals who
entered into an agreement with the Deftard as a “principal” or an “indemnitor” for the
provision of bail bond services and signed an agreement to defer payment of any balance owed
on the bail premiunand pay over time. This class is referred to as the “TILA Class.”

89. Plaintiffs Ms. Egana, Ms. Bown, and Mr. Egana seek to certify a class for
damages pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a) and (b)(3). The Class is defined as: All individuals
who entered into an agreement with the Defendants as a “principal” or an “indemnitor” for the
provision of bail bond services, where the principal was arrested and held against his or her will
by DefendanBlair's for nonpayment of the balanced owed on the bail premium. This class is

referred to as the “Kidnapping and Extortion Class.”

17
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I. Whether Defendants collaborate and/or conspidetermining whether to
demand money from a principal who is not current on payments or to surrender thém to jai

J- Whether Defendants collaborate and/or conspidetermining whether to
arrest and hold at Blair’s office principals who are not current on payments;

k. Whether the holding of principals is done with the intention of extorting
payments;

l. Whether Defendants’ practices constitute the predicate act of extortion;

m. Whether Defendants’ practices constitute the predicate act of extortionate
collection of extension of credit;

n. Whether Defendants’ practices constitute the predicate act of simple
kidnapping or aggravated kidnapping;

0. Whether Defendants have engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity;
and

p. Whether Defendants’ practices violate RICO and state RICO.

Questions of law and fact common to the False Imprisonmeigubclass include

g. The @mmon questions of law and fact listecoaragraph 9%)-(j); and

r. Whetherthe detention of individuals for several hours on condition of
payment constitutes false imprisonment.

Questions of law and fact common to the Falskenprisonment With Ankle Monitor

Subclass include

S. The common questions of law and fact listeganagraph 9@))-(r);

t. Whether Defendants regularl

20



u. Whetherprincipals were charged a standard daily fee for the use of the
ankle monitor;

V. Whether that standard daily fee was charged by Blair’s;

21
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il Whethercontracting for payment of those fees

22



Case 2:17-cv-05899 Document 1 Filed 06/16/17 Page 23 of 37

Defendants’ standard policies and practices apply equally to all members mdsfiective
Classes and SubclassEsrthermore, proposed Class and Subclass members are all people who
could not aford an upfront payment of a bail bond or a bail bond premium, hade little

ability to pursue these claims individuall class action is the superior method to adjudicating
the claims because it will save the time, expense, and effort involved in preparing multiple
claims against the same Defendants.

100. Rule 23(g)Plaintiffs are represented by attorneys from the Southern Poverty Law
Center who have experience in classion litigation involving civil rights law, as well as
experience litigating poliels and practices that harm consumé@wsunsel has the resources,
expertise, and experience to prosecute this action.

VI. GENERAL RICO ALLEGATIONS

101. Plaintiffs are “persons” with standing to sue within the meaning of 18 U.S.C.
88 1961(3) and 1964(¢RICO)and La Stat. Ann. § 13:356(E)(state RICQO)

102. Each of the Defendants is a RIC@etson” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1961(3) because each is an entity capable of holding a legal or beneficial interest in property.

The RICO Enterprise

103. All Defendants have associated together as an assoeiatiact, and therefore
an enterprise within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 196a(d)La. Stat. Ann.8 15:1352(B) Such
RICO Enterprise haan ongoing relationship with the common purpose of provitdaigbonds
to persons in the greater New Orleans area and chargirgpbecting fees from those persons.

104. TheRICO Enterprise is engaged in interstate commerce in that its activities and

transactions relating to the arrangement of bail bond agreements and collection of bail bond fees

23



frequently requires movement and communications across statealmkesise of interstate
facilities.

105. The members of the RICO Enterprise function as a continuing unit.

106. Blair's meets with potential clients to extend bail bonds and credltdibrfees.
Blair's requires principals and indemnitors to sign the contract document&ing in part
through itsalter ego New Orleans Bail Bonds, and install ankle monitors. Blair's employs bounty

hunterswho

24



Case 2:17-cv-05899 Document 1 Filed 06/16/17 Page 25 of 37

other Defendants to do the sartteposes a continuous threat of engaging in these racketeering
acts.

110. A2i provides the GPS ar&klmonitoring services used to monitor the location of
defendants and find them for arredtalso determines the ankle monitoring fees that will be
collected by Blair's an@Z2i.

111. Through these actions, A2i conducts and participates in a pattern of racketee
(through predicate acts of kidnapping, extortion, and extortionate collection of extension of
credit) and also commits the unlawful collection of debt, as well as conspiring with other
Defendants to do the sanieposes a continuous threat of engaging in these racketeering acts.

112. These practices are a regular way of conducting the ongoing busineash
Defendant and of conducting or participating in the ongoing enterprise.

VII. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Truth i n Lending Act
15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq.
Named Plaintiffs and TILA Class versus Bonding Defendants

113. NamedPlaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation
contained in paragrapHsthrough88, 94through97, and 9%hrough100 as if fully set forth
herein.

114. Named Plaintiffs bring this claim on behalf of themselves and the putative TILA
Class, against the Bonding Defendants.

115. The agreement to defer payment of the bail fee constitutes consumer credit
extended for a personal or family purpose withi@ meaning of TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 1602(g) and
(), and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.2 (a)(12).

116. At all times relevant hereto, the Bonding Defendants regularly extended or

25



offered to extend consumer credit for which a finance charge is or may be impegaidhg by

26



1605 and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.B.1026.4, thus improperly disclosing the finance charge in
violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(3) and Regulation Z, 12 C.E.R026.18(d)Such amounts
include, but are not limited ta $10/day GPS monitoring ankle bracelet &®l an ankle
monitoring installation fee

e. By failing to provide the number, amounts, and timing of payments
scheduled to repay the obligatian,violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(6) and Regulation Z, 12
C.F.R.§ 1026.18(q).

f. By failing to provide a statement thataltiffs should refer to the
appropriatecontract document for any information such document provides about nonpayment,
default, the right to accelerate the maturity of the debt, and prepayment rebates and penalties, in
violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a)(12) and Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R. § 1026.18(p).

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
RICO Claim based on Collection of Unlawful Debt

18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) & (d)
Named Plaintiffs and Unlawful Debt Clasgersus All Defendants

118. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation
contained in paragraphk through 8792, 94through 9799 through100, and 10through 112
as if fully set forth herein.

119. Named Plaintiffs bring this claim on behalf of themselves and the putative
Unlawful Debt Qass against all Defendants.

120. Defendants conducted or participated in and conspired to conduct the affairs of
the RICO Enterprise througie collection of unlawful debtjn violation 18 U.S.C. 8962(c)
and (d)

121. Specifically, Defendantengaged in the collection of unlawful debt by charging

ankle monitoring fees as a condition of extending credit

27
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a. Simple kidnapping in violation of La. Stat. Ann. § 14:45;

29
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134. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations appearing in
Paragraph 13233.

135. Defendantsthrough the RICO Enterprise, have obtained payments from Plaintiffs
and the putative Kidnapping and Extorti@ass by the wrongful use of actual and threatened
force and far, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951 (Hobbs Act).

136. The proceeds of the Defendants’ extortionate activities]TJ(c)-1(t)-2())-2(. )]TJ ( )Tj EM(

30
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147. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations appearing in
Paragraph 13031.

148. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ willful, knowing, and intentional
acts discussed in this ClairRlaintiffs and proposed Class members have suffered injuries to
their property and/or businessjncluding money obtained unlawfully by Defendants by
kidnapping and extortion.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
False Imprisonment

Mr. Egana and False Imprisonment Subclass versus Bonding Defendants and
Mr. Egana and False Imprisonment With AnklMonitor Subclass versus A2i

149. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation
contained in paragraptisthrough &, 90 through91, 94through 97,and 99through100 as if
fully set forth herein.

150. Named Plaintiffs bring this claim on behalf of themselves and the putative False
Imprisonment Subclass against Bonding Defendants.

151. Named Plaintiffs also bring this claim on behalf of themselves and the putative
False Imprisonment With Ankle Monitor Subclass against Defendant A2i.

152. TheBonding Defendants detained Mr. Egana and members of the putative False

Imprisonment Subclass against their wgents employed by the Bonding Defendants appeared

32
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161.

34
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168. Named Plaintiffs bring this claim on behalf of themselves and the putative
Unlawful Debt Class against Defendant A2i.

169. Louisiana law limits the amount a bail bonding insurer or producer may charge;
they may chege a $25 administrative fee, La. Stat. Ann. § 22:855(B)(2)(b), and a bail bond
premium of 12% of the total value of the bort,§ 22:1443, or 12.5% in Jefferson Parigh,

§ 13:718(1)(2)(a).

170. The contracts used by the Bonding Defendants when entertogai Credit
Agreement with the Plaintiffs and members of the Proposed Debtor Class include provisions that
violate Louisiana law.

171. The contracts require principals and indemnitors to pay at least a $25 fee and a
premium.

172. Thecontractsalso charge other fees on top of the $25 fee and premium authorized
by law, including the requirement that principals and indemnitors pay earlier outstanding
balances (and waive their rights to a refunder state law until they do so).

173. The Plaintiffs ad putative Contract Class members executed contracts with
Bonding Defendants that suffer from these deficiencies.

174. These provisions of the contracts with Bonding Defendants are void as a matter of
law, and they should be enjoined from enforcing them

175. In addition, Named Plaintiffs and members of the putative Unlawful Debt Class
were also required, as a condition of receiving bonding seraiwseceiving credit for the bond
feg to execute a contract with Defendant ARis contract charges an additionallgdee for
ankle monitor use.

176. These fees charged are not authorized by law.
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Samuel Brooke*
SOUTHERNPOVERTYLAW CENTER
400 Washington Avenue

Montgomery, Alabama 36104
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F: 3349568481

E: caren.short@splcenter.org

E: sara.zampierin@splcenter.org

E: samuel.brooke @splcenter.org

*application for pro hac vice pending

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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